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THE CASTLE OF ARNOIA AND THE TERRITORY

T

1 About the evolution of Portuguese Medieval weaponry, please read Barroca (2000: 37-110).
2  It is regionally called “Monte Farinha” and has the chapel of Our Lady of Grace on the summit, at 1000 meters above 

sea level. Located in the municipality of Mondim de Basto, the conical “Monte Farinha” is nothing more than the prow of an 
interesting granitic mountain range (mountain range of Alvão) that, from east to west, stretches along a straight line from its 
neighbour Campo de Seixo (Mondim de Basto) (with an approximate length of 5 km) (Casal Pelayo, 1988).

Aerial view.
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3 As it is known, this monarch is responsible for great advances in terms of the Reconquest and territorial occupation 

date in the Portuguese Medieval chronology at both the political and the artistic level.  
4 The “civitates” were created for civil and military administration purposes within the territorial management strategy of 

the period of King Afonso III of Asturias (866-909). 

South view.
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5 This narrative is common to many castles that praise the deeds of their defence ascribing them to certain figures and 
extraordinary events such as this one that, using the topics of goats and luminaries, reproduces several famous historical 
battles, such as the battle between Gideon and the Midianites, Samson and the Philistines or Hannibal and the Romans.

6 Reference to the fortified city of Celorico.
7 According to the author, this is an transcript or partial apograph of an unknown or missing chronicle about Portugal’s 

administrative boundaries in 1604.
8 Territorial reference to the Castle of Celorico de Basto.

Wall. Granitic batholiths.
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9 Arnaldo de Baião, named after the land where he was established, or Arnaldo Eris, is, according to A. de Almeida Fernandes (1946: 
30), the founder of the lineage of the Baiões, of whom Egas Moniz, the governor and schoolmaster of King Afonso Henriques descends. 
The connection between Arnaldo and the land arose by the similarity between “Arnaldo” and “Arnoia”, although it is possible that 
there was a connection related to the monastery of Saint John of Ermo (Celorico de Basto). According to the reference made by 
Felgueiras Gaio (1938-1941: 32), who states that he was a contemporary of Sancho, the Fat, and Ramiro - both kings of Leon -, we 
are guessing that he was alive in the period between 960 and 985, a chronology that the quoted A. de Almeida Fernandes extends it 
until the late 10th century.

10 We do not agree with C. Coutinho da Cunha’s opinion (1942: 44) when he said, in 1940, that the remaining ruins of the 
Castle of Arnoia corresponded to the castle marked in the document from 1064. 

11 In its epigraph, Mário Barroca (2000: 862-867) read: D(omnus) MUNIUS MUNIS H(ic) · IN S(uo) · ASSISTER(io) ·/ FINI : 
IN : Era : Mª : CCª : 2ª XXXXª.

12 According to A. de Almeida Fernandes, Teresa, the daughter of Múnio Dolo, called herself Moniz and, as we shall see, it is due to her 
descendants that, in the 14th century, we find the Castle turned into an “alcaidaria” [mayor’s residence] (Correia et al., 1936-1960: 405).

Monastery of Arnoia (Celorico de Basto). Monastery of Arnoia (Celorico de Basto). Church. Nave. 
Tympanum. Agnus Dei.

Monastery of Arnoia (Celorico de Basto). 
Sacristy. Plaque. Saint Michael.
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THE MONUMENT DURING THE MEDIEVAL PERIOD

C

13 Conducted by the IGESPAR – Instituto de Gestão do Património Arquitetónico e Arqueológico [Portuguese Institute for 
Management of Architectural and Archaeological Heritage] in the winter of 2002. The team was led by Francisco Manuel Veleda 
Reimão Queiroga. 

14 Based on a stratigraphic analysis, two major constructive moments have been identified; the first one corresponds to the 
east-west wall and the second one is related to the north turret (Perennia Monumenta, 2002: 16-17).

15 PORTUGAL. Secretaria de Estado da Cultura – IGESPAR – Castelo de Arnoia/Castelo dos Mouros/Castelo de Moreira [Online]. 
Portal do Arqueólogo. Lisboa: IGESPAR, [s.d.]. [Visited on May 19th, 2012]. Available at www: <URL: http://arqueologia.igespar.pt>.

16 A “cubelo” is a cube-shaped turret or a Medieval tower placed in the first ring of defensive walls (Silva & Calado, 2005: 119).

Ashlars from the tower’s base and the adjacent wall. Detail.

Turret.
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North view.
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17 Please note the definition of “barbican” proposed by Jorge Henrique Pais da Silva and Margarida Calado (2005: 54): “1. 
An advanced defence core, established outside fortifications, on a lower plan, to protect an important point (e.g.: to cover a city 
gate, the head of a bridge). 2. A wall that was built outside the walls, on a lower plan”. 

Door.

Keep. Aerial view.
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18 Besides Tomar (1160), we should note the examples of Pombal (1171), Almourol (Vila Nova da Barquinha, 1171), Penas 
Roias (Mogadouro, 1172) or Longroiva (Meda, 1174), works that are documented by epigraphs.

19 As the archaeological report delivered in 2002 states, this tower is built by carved ashlars with a longitudinal cross-
section, predominantly rectangular. The ashlars were assembled without the use of mortar and the north wall stands on a 
foundation made of large-sized and irregular granitic stones shaped as parallelepipeds. This foundation has two projections, 
each of them corresponding to a different row. The free spaces between the foundation stones are filled with earth, not 
showing any traces of binding mortars (Perennia Monumenta, 2002: 19). 
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20 Other farmhouses of neighbouring parishes were required to perform this work and others according to their “last name” 
or “surname” (Lopes, 2008: 42).

21 Martim Vasques da Cunha descended, on his mother side, from the Portocarreiros, whose ancestor was Arnaldo de Baião. 

Cistern.
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THE MONUMENT DURING THE MODERN PERIOD

T

22 A significant amount of iron smelting slag was found here, something that may confirm the presence of the 
aforementioned smelting workshop. Furthermore, a series of coins dated from periods ranging between 1433 and 1557 was 
found in the same area, thus providing evidence of an intense human activity (Perennia Monumenta, 2002: 24).
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 The village of Castelo

T

23 Even the issue of reused materials, a situation that the theorists of continuity have considered a sign of syncretism, was 
actually an expression of the need to resort to that scattered archaeological collection, which often included ashlars, columns 
or altar stones that were perfectly reusable in the new construction. About these aspects, please read Resende (2011).

Castle and village. Aerial view.
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24 Jerónimo Contador de Argote (1732: 317-318) is one of the first memoirists to associate “Celiobriga” with Celorico.
25 This road is already mentioned in 1251, in the inquiries commissioned by King Afonso III (Lopes, 2005: 129).

Village of Castelo (Celorico de Basto). 
Pillory.
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26 ANTT – Feitos da Coroa. Núcleo Antigo, n.º 247, fls. 618-638.

Village of Castelo (Celorico de Basto). Ancient pharmacy house known as “Botica” house.
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27 Idem, ibid.
28 If we are to believe in the description made by the memoirist, the demolition of the pillory occurred between 1726 and 

1758 (Craesbeeck, 1992: 323).
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29 The list of judges until 1725 is made by Francisco Craesbeeck (1992: 329).
30 In the case of the “vila do Castelo” [Castle’s village], the fact that it did not include the parish church within its limits - as 

it was located on a remote site called Ermo – contributed to its extinction as an axial place.

Partial view of the town of Celorico de Basto, from the hamlet of Freixieiro, Britelo.
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CONTEMPORARY INTERVENTIONS

I

31 Ofício n.º 1942 de 4 de maio de 1933 [SIPA.TXT.01026974] PT DGEMN:DSARH-010/075-0004. Idem.
32 Please see the documents related to the classification process of the Castle of Arnoia in PT DGEMN:DSARH-010/075-0002. 

Idem. In this case, with the purpose of saving space, we decided to reference the process and not every single document as we 
have been doing, given the extent of the process in question.

Partial view of the wall before the 
intervention carried out by the DGEMN. 
Source: IHRU archive.

Consolidation and restoration works of the 
tower (1963). Source: IHRU archive.
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33 DECREE no. 35532. O.G. [Official Gazette] Series I. 55 (46-03-15) 160.
34 Please see note 30.
35 About the subject, please read Botelho (2006: 183).
36 This comparison, made by a member of the central committee of the opposition candidacy’s services during a rally 

organized in Porto to support General Norton de Matos, was intended to be a reply to the propagandist intents of the regime 
that were embodied in the exhibitions of the 15 Years of Public Works, which were held in Lisbon, in 1948, and in Porto, in the 
following year. The opposition replied to the criticism of the Minister of Public Works  with an extensive article in the República, 
in which it accused the State of spending large sums of money on a project that was “improvised and, therefore, debatable”. 
About this issue of the “criticism to the precepts that were practised and to the situation of the national artistic heritage”, 
please see Neto (2001: 258-270).

37 A photograph from 1973 shows that a masonry stairway which allowed accessing the door of the keep had been 
built next to its wall, as well as a parapet around the cistern, which was also made of stone. We couldn’t ascertain when this 
intervention was made, nor when it was demolished. The descriptive specifications are not clear in this regard.

Patio before the intervention carried out 
by the DGEMN. Source: IHRU archive.
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[MLB / NR] 

[RR]

38 Ofício da Direção-Geral dos Assuntos Culturais, 21 de março de 1974 [SIPA.TXT.01026743]. PT DGEMN: 
DSARH-010/075-0003 [Online]. Available at www: <URL: http://www.monumentos.pt> [N.º IPA PT010305020003].

39 Memória, 9 de maio de 1977 [SIPA.TXT.01027020]. DGEMN:DSARH-010/075-0006. Idem.
40 Ofício n.º 359 da C.M.C.B., 5 de março de 1975 [SIPA.TXT.01026986]. Idem.
41 Ofício n.º 556 da DGEMN de 25 de agosto de 1975 [SIPA.TXT.01026992]. Idem.
42 Idem. 
43 Ofício do Instituto Português do Património Cultural de 2 de setembro de 1986 [SIPA.TXT.01027036]. Idem.
44 The IPPC – Instituto Português do Património Cultural [Portuguese Institute of the Cultural Patrimony] was established by 

Decree-Law no. 59/80, of April 3rd, as “a service aimed at promoting the preservation and valorization of what, for its historical value, 
artistic, archaeological, bibliographical, documentary, ethnographic or landscape, integrates the cultural heritage of the Country”.   

45 Documentation available in DGEMN:DREMN 2315. Castelo de Arnoia/dos Mouros/de Moreira. IRHU/Arquivo ex-
DGEMN/DREMN.

Village of Castelo (Celorico de Basto). 
Interpretive Centre of the Castle of Arnoia 

of the Romanesque.
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CHRONOLOGY

10th century (2nd half): construction of the Castle of Arnoia, according to tradition;

1064: first documented reference regarding the fortification;

1092: a document mentions the properties of Celorico and “terra de Basto”;

12th-13th centuries: second occupation period of the Castle and edification of the Castle of Arnoia’s Romanesque 
structure;

1717: the parish seat is transferred from “Villa de Basto” to the parish of Britelo;

1726: “terra de Basto” was then divided into two municipalities, Celorico and Cabeceiras de Basto; the keep of 
the Castle of Arnoia was still crowned with battlements;

1758: the Castle of Arnoia was already presenting some traces of ruin;

1946: it is classified as a National Monument by Decree no. 35.532 (Governmental Gazette no. 55, from March 15th);

1960-1963: period of restoration works in the Castle of Arnoia, under the DGEMN’s responsibility;

1985: the Castle of Arnoia is allocated to the IPPC;

1992: the Castle of Arnoia’s jurisdiction is transferred to the IPPAR;

2002: conduction of archaeological surveys inside the fortification;

2004: installation of the Interpretative Centre of the Castle of Arnoia in an old elementary school;

2005: the Castle of Arnoia is reallocated to the IGESPAR;

2010: integration in the Route of the Romanesque;

2014: improvements to the surroundings of the Castle of Arnoia, under the Route of the Romanesque.
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